A/CN.4/SR.3321

Provisional
For participants only
10 August 2016

Original: English

International Law Commission
Sixty-eighth session (second part)

Provisional summary record of the 3321st meeting
Held at the Palais des Nations, Geneva, on Friday, 15 July 2016, at 10 a.m.

Contents

Organization of the work of the session (continued)

Protection of the environment in relation to armed conflicts (continued)

Corrections to this record should be submitted in one of the working languages. They should be set
forth in a memorandum and also incorporated in a copy of the record. They should be sent within two
weeks of the date of the present document to the English Translation Section, room E.6040, Palais des
Nations, Geneva (trad_sec_eng@unog.ch).

GE.16-12401 (E) 250716 100816

* 1612401 % Please recycle@




A/CN.4/SR.3321

Present:

Chairman:
Later:

Members:

Secretariat:

Mr. Llewellyn

. Comissario Afonso
. Saboia

. Al-Marri

. Caflisch

. Candioti

. El-Murtadi
. Escobar Hernandez
. Forteau

. Hassouna

. Hmoud

. Jacobsson

. Kamto

. Kittichaisaree
. Kolodkin

. Laraba

. McRae

. Murase

. Niehaus

. Park

. Peter

. Petri¢

. Singh

. Sturma

. Valencia-Ospina

. Vazquez-Bermudez

. Wako

Sir Michael Wood

Secretary to the Commission

GE.16-12401



A/CN.4/SR.3321

The meeting was called to order at 10 a.m.

Organization of the work of the session (agenda item 1) (continued)

The Chairman said that the Bureau had not yet been able to finalize all aspects of
the draft programme of work. It would be submitted to the Commission as soon as possible.
In the meantime, a plenary meeting would be held at 3 p.m. on Monday, 18 July 2016 to
allow the Commission to continue its consideration of the topic of jus cogens. The Special
Rapporteur on that topic would sum up the discussion the following day, after which the
Special Rapporteur on the topic of protection of the environment in relation to armed
conflicts would sum up the debate on that topic. Then, if time remained, the Drafting
Committee on the topic of jus cogens would meet.

Protection of the environment in relation to armed conflicts (agenda item 7) (continued)
(A/CN.4/700)

The Chairman invited the Commission to resume its consideration of the third
report of the Special Rapporteur on protection of the environment in relation to armed
conflicts (A/CN.4/700).

Mr. Niehaus said that he wished to thank the Special Rapporteur for her excellent
third report on a complex topic that was of great relevance to the contemporary world. The
report covered a great deal of material and presented a particularly useful analysis of the
discussion of the topic in the Sixth Committee.

He reiterated the support he had expressed previously for the Special Rapporteur’s
decision to divide the topic into three phases — before, during and after an armed conflict.
However, as other members had commented, it would have been useful for the report to set
out more clearly the rules that applied during each of the three phases. The content and
conclusions of the third report — the main focus of which was to identify rules applicable
in the third phase — only partially reflected the methodology followed. For the sake of
greater clarity, it should have concentrated on the most important aspects of the topic,
leaving aside matters of less relevance, such as the international investment agreements
covered in paragraphs 115 to 120. The extensive references to the jurisprudence of regional
human rights courts in paragraphs 196 to 212 did not seem to form a clear foundation for
the conclusions that the Special Rapporteur sought to draw. Rather than facilitating
understanding of the topic, the amount of information presented at times obscured it. The
more specific a report, the easier it was for the Commission to analyse it and reach a
positive outcome. While on the subject of clarity, he wished to endorse Mr. Candioti’s call
for uniform, coherent and consistent terminology, the absence of which in recent years had
generated confusion. Resolving terminological issues should not be the preserve of the
Drafting Committee, given the detrimental effects that poor use of terminology could have
on the Commission’s work.

Turning to the draft principles, he expressed support for draft principle I-1 but
suggested that it should be reformulated to clarify that States had an obligation to take steps
to protect the environment in relation to armed conflicts. While he welcomed the inclusion
of a reference to international organizations in draft principle I-3, he agreed with other
colleagues that, in the first sentence, the word “encouraged” was not emphatic enough and
should be replaced with a more specific legal term. Draft principle 1-4 seemed to be a
restatement of draft principle I-3; moreover, as Mr. Forteau had pointed out, peace
operations did not form part of armed conflicts, except in very exceptional circumstances.
He agreed with Mr. Petri¢ that draft principle III-1 was incomplete, inasmuch as it did not
address issues of compensation and responsibility. The word “encouraged” should be
replaced in both draft principles III-1 and III-2, for the reasons he had stated previously. As
Mr. Hassouna had suggested, draft principles III-3 and I1I-4 should be merged; he also

GE.16-12401 3



A/CN.4/SR.3321

shared the view that the list of remnants of war currently contained in draft principle I11-3
(1) should not be exhaustive. The issue of access to and sharing of information, covered in
draft principle III-5, was of great importance but also great complexity. Further detail was
needed in the text to ensure that the draft principle could be applied effectively in practice.

Draft principle IV-1, on the rights of indigenous peoples, had given rise to much
debate and opposing points of view. Despite his strong support for the rights of indigenous
peoples and condemnation of the horrific acts committed against them around the world
during the colonial era, he wondered whether the current topic was the appropriate
framework in which to address the abuses that indigenous communities had suffered and
continued to suffer. The historical responsibility to put an end to such abuses was clear, but,
although he found it difficult to say so, draft principle IV-1, as currently formulated, did not
fit into the overall structure of the draft principles. He therefore suggested that it should be
altered to read: “In the event of armed conflicts, States shall cooperate and consult with
indigenous peoples living in their territories, so as to ensure respect at all times for their
traditional knowledge and practices in relation to their lands and natural environment, as
well as their free, prior and informed consent in connection with usage of their lands and
territories that would have a major impact on the lands.” [En caso de conflictos armados,
los Estados estan obligados a cooperar y celebrar consultas con los pueblos indigenas
asentados en su territorio, para asegurar el respecto, en todo momento, de sus
conocimientos y practicas tradicionales, en relacién con sus tierras y entorno natural, asi
como su consentimiento libre, previo e informado en relacidn con el uso de sus tierras y
territorios, que entrafie consecuencias importantes para las mismas.]

With those comments, he expressed support for referring all the draft principles
contained in the Special Rapporteur’s third report to the Drafting Committee.

Sir Michael Wood said that he wished to thank the Special Rapporteur for her most
interesting third report, which reflected a great deal of research. He welcomed the extensive
bibliography, which could perhaps be made even more useful by dividing it into sections
that corresponded to the various matters covered by the draft principles. He agreed with
much of what had already been said in the course of the debate, particularly Mr. Forteau’s
remarks on methodology. The report was lengthy and detailed; however, it was not always
easy to see which materials had led to which draft principle and which were there just for
background.

Concerning the scope of the topic, he recalled that in 2015 the Drafting Committee
had provisionally adopted a provision stating that the draft principles applied to the
protection of the environment before, during or after an armed conflict. That seemed to
include both international and non-international armed conflicts, and it was perhaps
appropriate that the topic should do so. However, he shared the concern expressed by Mr.
Kolodkin that the draft principles made no distinction between the two. It might be too
simplistic to try to cover both types of armed conflict without taking into consideration the
different rules that might apply and the different actors concerned. A future Special
Rapporteur would need to analyse the matter further.

As to the nine draft principles proposed by the Special Rapporteur in her report, it
was important — though not at present particularly easy — to see them together with the
draft principles already provisionally adopted by the Drafting Committee in 2015. It would
therefore be helpful if the Committee were to have before it a document combining, in the
correct order, the texts adopted in 2015 and those referred to it at the current session.

As Mr. Park and others had indicated, the Special Rapporteur had not included
materials establishing that States must or should adopt the preventive measures envisaged
in draft principle I-1. Paragraphs 187 to 238 of the report contained brief descriptions of a
number of cases, but it was difficult to see how draft principle I-1 related to them; he had

4 GE.16-12401



A/CN.4/SR.3321

some doubts therefore as to whether that draft principle should be referred to the Drafting
Committee. Moreover, the relationship between that draft principle and the others in Part
One was not entirely clear. If draft principles 1-2, I-3 and I-4 were forms of application of
draft principle I-1, that should be made clear. Like other members, he had serious doubts
concerning draft principle I-3, which was explained only briefly in the report, as it did not
seem that status-of-forces and status-of-mission agreements were closely related to armed
conflict. In draft principle I-4, the term “peace operations” ought perhaps to be defined for
the purposes of the draft principles, or at least explained in the commentary.

Concerning draft principle III-1, he agreed with Mr. Forteau that a study of peace
agreements between States could provide a basis for a better draft principle, but at present
that information was not available to the Commission. Draft principle III-2, being simply a
policy statement as Mr. Hmoud had suggested, could be referred to the Drafting Committee.
However, some redrafting might be needed in paragraph 2, as the current wording, in
particular the reference to “future operations”, seemed to suggest that the paragraph
belonged to the preventive phase, not the post-conflict phase. The Drafting Committee
would need to examine draft principles III-3 and III-4 very carefully, including the
relationship between them, their addressees and whether the Commission should try to list
remnants of war. He agreed with those who had said that more precision was required in
draft principle III-5. As Mr. McRae had observed, States might not be in a position to grant
access to information that was kept secret as a matter of national security. Although the
draft principle added no new obligations to those already existing in international law, and
might therefore be acceptable, it needed to specify to which phase of armed conflict it
applied. Its position in Part Three of the draft principles suggested that it applied only in the
post-conflict phase.

It was far from clear how draft principle IV-1 on the rights of indigenous peoples
fitted into the topic. Neither the short passage in the report that touched on it nor the
proposed draft principle itself related specifically to armed conflict. As had been said in
earlier debates, the current topic was not the place to enter into the general question of the
international law applicable to indigenous peoples. If such a draft principle were to be
included, it should be based on a more rigorous analysis of specific issues concerning
indigenous peoples, armed conflict and the protection of the environment. In the absence of
that analysis, he found it hard to take a stance on the draft principle in question. Among
other things, it could raise the issue of why the Commission was not providing guidelines
on other particularly vulnerable groups that might also be affected by armed conflict.

The ambitious future programme of work set out in the concluding paragraphs of the
report showed that much remained to be done to complete a first reading of the draft
principles. Covering liability and responsibility for environmental damage in relation to
armed conflict, as suggested by some, might make the exercise much more prescriptive.
Was there any reason to establish a lex specialis in respect of State responsibility? Could it
not be assumed that the Commission’s draft articles on the responsibility of States for
internationally wrongful acts applied in that area, as in most others? In any event,
responsibility and liability should be considered, if at all, at the end of the topic when the
overall shape of the draft principles had become clear. He agreed that the issue of
protection of the environment during occupation, raised by Mr. Hmoud, was important, but
it was not clear where it would fit into the overall scheme of the draft principles.

He again welcomed the Special Rapporteur’s consultations with international and
regional organizations and strongly agreed with her about the need for States to continue to
provide examples of relevant national legislation and case law.

He would be happy for the draft principles to be referred to the Drafting Committee,
with the possible exception of draft principles I-1 and IV-1.

GE.16-12401 5



A/CN.4/SR.3321

Mr. Wako said that he wished to congratulate the Special Rapporteur for presenting
her third report within the time frame that she had proposed in her preliminary report in
2014. While he agreed with Mr. Forteau that it would be preferable for the Commission to
have before it an average of four or five proposed draft texts in any given report, the
Special Rapporteur’s decision to put forward nine draft principles in the present report was
understandable given the time that she had dedicated to the topic and the fact that she was
not seeking re-election. Although the Special Rapporteur had engaged in extensive research
and consultations with a wide range of bodies, much more remained to be done in an area
that was evolving fast.

Only 40 years previously, in 1976, the Convention on the Prohibition of Military or
Any Other Hostile Use of Environmental Modification Techniques had been adopted,
followed one year later by the Protocol additional to the Geneva Conventions of 12 August
1949, and relating to the protection of victims of international armed conflicts. As
recognized by the Special Rapporteur, the provisions of the two instruments, which had
been the first to provide expressly for the protection of the environment in armed conflicts,
reflected the interests and environmental concerns of the international community at that
time.

International environmental law had been in its infancy in 1976, but environmental
concerns could no longer be disregarded. Although it was not possible to identify evidence
of relevant customary international law, there was evidence of a growing awareness and
clear ambition on the part of States and international organizations to take environmental
considerations into account when planning and conducting military operations in peacetime.
The fact that environmental degradation had an impact on the enjoyment of human rights
did not necessarily mean that there existed a rule of customary international law
establishing an individual human right to a clean environment.

Rapid progress was being made, however, with Africa arguably taking the lead. The
African Charter on Human and Peoples’ Rights provided that all peoples had the right to a
general satisfactory environment favourable to their development. In Kenya, the 2010
Constitution established, inter alia, that every person had the right to a clean and healthy
environment, that the State should eliminate processes and activities that were likely to
endanger the environment and that any person or group of persons could apply to a court
for redress in relation to violations of the right to a clean and healthy environment, without
having to demonstrate that they had locus standi in the matter. The Commission was
therefore dealing with progressive international law. It was a pity, in that regard, that many
Member States were not cooperating by providing information on environmental legislation,
measures and policies.

The proposed draft principles reflected emerging trends in the area of environmental
law. Care should be taken, however, not to address wider environmental issues but to
remain within the scope of the topic. The topic was complex in that it dealt with the
intersection between the law of armed conflict, environmental law, international human
rights law and international humanitarian law. It was therefore tempting to produce draft
principles relating to general environmental law rather than environmental law in the
context of armed conflict, and to address the law as applied in peacetime rather than the law
as applied during or after an armed conflict. One challenge that the Commission faced was
to ensure that the draft principles fell within the scope of the topic.

There were a number of other challenges related to the draft principles. First, the
Special Rapporteur had said in her preliminary report that the third report was likely to
contain a limited number of guidelines, conclusions or recommendations. Ultimately,
however, she had formulated draft principles. In that connection, he agreed with Mr.
Candioti that the Commission needed to decide on a consistent approach to the use of terms
for draft texts.

6 GE.16-12401



A/CN.4/SR.3321

Secondly, the Commission had agreed at the outset that the working definition of
armed conflict would be wider than the one that it had used in other reports in order to
encompass situations where an armed conflict took place without the involvement of a State.
In that way, it would ensure that non-international armed conflicts were covered. In the
proposed draft principles, however, the Special Rapporteur did not appear to have
distinguished between international and non-international armed conflicts, or between State
and non-State actors. In the introduction to her third report, the Special Rapporteur had
stated that, in future reports, it might be worth addressing the responsibility and practice of
non-State actors and organized armed groups in international armed conflicts. That raised
the question of whether the draft principles would have to be amended once that issue had
been addressed, whether consideration of the draft principles should be put on hold until
that time and whether the report should be split into two parts, one dealing with
international armed conflicts and the other with non-international armed conflicts.

Thirdly, he agreed with Mr. Peter that, although the Special Rapporteur had placed
draft principle IV-1 against the background of indigenous peoples, their land, the
environment and the principle of free, prior and informed consent, that background was too
narrow and weak to support such an important theme. He also agreed that the Special
Rapporteur’s report had not done justice to the subject matter before arriving at the draft
principle — which was probably why several members of the Commission had stated that
the draft principle fell outside the scope of the topic — and that there was a wealth of
materials available that could have been used to justify the inclusion of a slightly modified
version of draft principle IV-1.

It was clear from the response of other members to the report that the topic should
remain on the Commission’s programme of work. His Christian beliefs underpinned his
views of the origin and importance of international human rights and environmental law. In
the future, the Commission would be remembered above all else for its contribution to the
protection of human rights and the environment. The Commission had to find someone to
assume the Special Rapporteur’s mandate. That person should be fully committed to the
protection of the environment and should regard the completion of the mandate not just as a
duty but as a calling.

In conclusion, he recommended that all the draft principles should be referred to the
Drafting Committee, which should also recommend the way forward for dealing with the
topic.

Mr. Saboia (Second Vice-Chairman) took the Chair.

Mr. Valencia-Ospina, after thanking the Special Rapporteur for her third report,
said that he wished to touch on two main issues, the clarification of which would benefit the
Commission’s future work. The first was the distinction between the natural environment
and the human environment, while the second concerned the temporal delimitation of the
second and third phases of the topic, namely during and after armed conflict.

With regard to the first issue, the Commission’s treatment of the topic in previous
years had left the impression that the focus of its work was on the protection of the natural
environment, without any consideration being given to the natural environment’s pecuniary
value or usefulness to humans. In a 2009 report by the United Nations Environment
Programme entitled “Protecting the Environment During Armed Conflict”, which had
ultimately led to the Commission taking up the topic, a distinction was drawn between the
environment, which had an intrinsic value, and natural resources, which were in some way
useful or exhaustible. In the section of the draft principles on the use of terms that had been
discussed by the Commission in 2015, the environment was defined as including “natural
resources, both abiotic and biotic”, but no reference was made to its usefulness.

GE.16-12401 7



A/CN.4/SR.3321

Surprisingly, the Special Rapporteur’s third report focused predominantly on the
environment as a useful natural resource, insofar as it was exhaustible and valuable, and on
the environment as the “human environment”. The shift in focus was noticeable throughout
the report, but particularly in the section devoted to legal cases and judgments, where the
Special Rapporteur mainly assessed cases in which the environment was characterized by
its economic value. The cases concerned the illegal exploitation of natural resources,
individual or collective deprivation of property and the loss of usability of land. The same
was true of the Special Rapporteur’s analysis of the work of compensation commissions,
with the notable exception of the United Nations Compensation Commission, which had
awarded compensation for “pure environmental damages”.

A number of the cases mentioned related to the specific connection between
indigenous people and the land they inhabited. The report contained a section and a
proposed draft principle devoted to indigenous people. Although he fully supported the
rights of indigenous people, as established in, for example, the United Nations Declaration
on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples, he agreed with several previous speakers that the
present topic was not the right place to discuss and reiterate those rights, which were
founded on human rights considerations and were relevant to the protection of the
environment only insofar as the environment might be of value to indigenous people. The
report did not demonstrate any particular relevance of such rights in relation to armed
conflict, and draft principle IV-1, on the rights of indigenous peoples, did not go beyond
restating rights that had already been established in more directly pertinent international
law instruments.

The same applied to the issue of access to and sharing of information, as addressed
in the report. The attempt to justify access to information as a human right was not relevant
to the focus of the topic, namely environmental protection. Draft principle III-5, which
dealt with the issue, provided that “States and international organizations shall grant access
to and share information in accordance with their obligations under international law”. Such
a formulation did not appear to be an example of either codification or the progressive
development of international law. On the one hand, no concrete information was given
about the nature of the obligations referred to in the draft principle and, on the other, there
was no mention of anything novel being elaborated.

The report also seemed to be the wrong place to address demining and the protection
of human beings, which bore no apparent connection to the protection of the environment
as such. The “human environment”, in particular, was already widely protected in
international law, both in peacetime and during armed conflict. Examples of that protection
included article 1 (2) of the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural
Rights and, in the context of armed conflict, the criminalization of the deliberate destruction
of the natural basis of livelihood.

The scope of the topic should not be confined to reiterating existing protection for
useful parts of the environment. Rather, in line with the Commission’s work on the topic in
previous years, it should cover the protection of the environment irrespective of its
usefulness or economic value. He agreed with the comments submitted by Switzerland,
which were summarized in paragraphs 85 to 90 of the report. In contrast to some other
States, Switzerland highlighted the distinction between the protection of objects
indispensable to the survival of the civilian population, on the one hand, and the protection
of the environment, on the other.

As to the temporal delimitation of the second and third phases, he shared the sense
of uneasiness expressed by several other members of the Commission. The Special
Rapporteur had divided the work on the topic mainly on a temporal basis, distinguishing
three phases — before, during and after an armed conflict — but left the division between
those phases rather open. At the same time, she made the predominantly applicable law

8 GE.16-12401



A/CN.4/SR.3321

dependent on the respective phase. For instance, in relation to the second phase, she based
her work on the assumption that during, but only during, an armed conflict, international
humanitarian law applied as lex specialis. The same could not be true of the other phases,
where no armed conflict was present to trigger the application of international humanitarian
law.

It seemed counterintuitive that the Special Rapporteur had chosen to commence her
consideration of the rules of particular relevance applicable in post-conflict situations with
an assessment of the Commission’s previous work on the effects of armed conflict on
treaties. An armed conflict that had ended fell outside the scope of the draft articles adopted
in 2011, in which “armed conflict” was taken to mean a situation in which there was resort
to armed force between States or protracted resort to armed force between governmental
authorities and organized armed groups. There was thus a need to distinguish clearly
between the temporal phases and to identify the laws applicable to each one.

He shared a concern expressed regarding the Special Rapporteur’s treatment of
peacekeeping missions under a United Nations mandate. The basic principles of United
Nations peacekeeping missions fundamentally distinguished them from armed conflict as
defined for the purposes of the topic. Such missions did not involve the use of force by
States. The inclusion of peacekeeping within the scope of the topic could therefore
endanger the viability and usefulness of United Nations peacekeeping efforts as a whole.

In conclusion, he supported the referral of the draft principles to the Drafting
Committee, with the possible exception of draft principle IV-1 and on the understanding
that the main focus of the topic would be on the protection of the environment.

Mr. El-Murtadi said that the excellent work of the Special Rapporteur, particularly
the copious references that she had provided, would serve as a very good basis for the work
of whoever took over her role. Given the increasing frequency of non-international conflicts
in the world and their impact on the environment, the second, armed conflict phase should
be accorded more importance than the other phases. It was, however, impossible to
establish frameworks that were completely watertight, and opinions on their application
differed, particularly with regard to the protection of indigenous peoples and natural
resources.

The report examined a series of examples of general international practice with
regard to armed conflicts and their consequences since the Declaration of the United
Nations Conference on the Human Environment. However, it had proved difficult to glean
information from African States and organizations. The Special Rapporteur had emphasized
the need for more contact and consultation in future work and it would be useful if the
Commission were to reiterate the call to States to provide more information on their
practice.

It might be useful for resolutions of the Security Council on protection of the
environment and natural resources in armed conflict to recall the negative aspects of
specific situations in which the Council had permitted military intervention. The adoption
of such decisions had not prevented further conflicts from taking place, and the
environment and natural resources had become the silent victims. Despite the existence of
national legislation to protect the environment, armed conflict was often accompanied by a
weakening of the State apparatus and environmental laws, while those who sought to
defend the environment were prevented from making their voices heard. Long-term
environmental considerations had become secondary to short-term concerns. The challenge
to the international community was therefore to demonstrate that the provisions of the law
and commitments to protect civilians and the environment could be applied in practice,
regardless of short-term political considerations.

GE.16-12401 9



A/CN.4/SR.3321

10

He hoped that whoever took over from the Special Rapporteur would be able to
address certain important points raised in the current report, such as the protection of the
environment during occupation and the responsibilities of non-State actors in non-
international armed conflicts. There was also a need for more discussion and contact with
the relevant organizations and greater efforts to elicit more information about the views and
practice of States.

The draft principles set out in the annex to the report would certainly help the
Drafting Committee in its work. The interdependence of the different phases of the topic
would favour an exhaustive and all-embracing approach to the draft principles. In
conclusion, he wished the Special Rapporteur every success in the future.

Ms. Escobar Hernandez said that she wished to thank the Special Rapporteur for
the report, which addressed the post-conflict phase in a detailed and systematic manner, as
well as some aspects of the pre-conflict phase. It provided the Commission with a relatively
complete picture of the subject, which was particularly important given that the
Commission was approaching the end of the quinquennium and that it would not be able to
benefit from the Special Rapporteur’s comprehensive understanding of the topic during the
next quinquennium. She welcomed the inclusion in the report of portions devoted to the
discussions in both the Commission and the Sixth Committee and to the written
contributions by Member States, since they served as a frame of reference for the remainder
of the report. Annex II was also worthy of note, as the inclusion of a select bibliography
would provide a solid basis for the future work of the Commission and the Special
Rapporteur’s successor.

The system used by the Special Rapporteur to address some of the subjects in the
report was somewhat difficult to follow. That was particularly true of section II, in which
reference was made interchangeably to both the pre-conflict and post-conflict phases, even
though the section was entitled “Rules of particular relevance applicable in post-conflict
situations”. However, the Special Rapporteur had helped to clarify some matters in her oral
presentation.

Although the wealth of practice analysed in the report was of interest and relevance,
elements of practice were at times presented in a somewhat general and abstract way and it
was not always easy to draw a direct connection between the practice mentioned and the
topic or the draft principle which it served to substantiate. It might be useful, therefore, if
the Special Rapporteur were to select the practice most directly relevant to each draft
principle for inclusion in the respective commentaries, thus making more explicit the
contribution of each element to the specific draft principle concerned.

As she had mentioned at the previous session, the use of the term “principle” raised
a number of issues in respect of its exact meaning, nature and legal effects. At the current
session, the question had arisen in the context of the Commission’s methods of work and
the need to make a clear distinction between draft articles, draft principles and draft
guidelines. In her view, the relationship between the three categories had to be understood
in terms of a descending order of prescriptive content. The appropriate term should thus be
selected according to the degree of prescriptiveness the Commission wished to attribute to
each of its topics. The issue could perhaps be discussed in the next quinquennium under
working methods, particularly because of the increasingly varied formats in which topics
and titles were presented.

As to the draft principles, although she agreed with the content of draft principle I-1,
it was necessary to clarify both the content and the ultimate aim of the measures mentioned
therein, since it was not clear whether the adjective “preventive” referred to all the
measures mentioned — legislative, administrative, judicial and others — or to a specific
category thereof. The draft principle should be included in the pre-conflict phase only if the

GE.16-12401



A/CN.4/SR.3321

word “preventive” was intended as a general term. If that were not the case, the measures
could be included in any of the phases and so should come under an introductory section.
Furthermore, the title, “Implementation and enforcement”, did not bear any relation to the
content of the draft article and should be changed, something that the Drafting Committee
would be well placed to do.

In respect of draft principle I-3, she did not entirely agree with other members of the
Commission that it dealt with a subject that was unrelated to the topic at hand, particularly
in the light of the examples given in the report. Although the status-of-forces and status-of-
mission agreements mentioned in the draft principle might not directly address situations of
armed conflict, the possibility of the addressees of those agreements being involved in a
conflict or some form of military engagement that had an impact on the environment could
not be ruled out. In any event, the final sentence of the draft principle should be deleted,
since the phrase “preventive measures, impact assessments, restoration and clean-up
measures” might lead to confusion as to the temporal phase referred to by the draft
principle. A description of provisions that could be included in such agreements would be
better placed in the commentary.

She shared the concern expressed by some members about the inclusion of draft
principle 1-4 in the section dealing with the pre-conflict phase. Although the substantive
content of the text was acceptable as a starting point and in line with recent developments
in peacekeeping operations, the express reference to the need to take measures to “prevent,
mitigate and remediate the negative environmental consequences” gave the draft principle a
cross-cutting, intertemporal dimension. It would therefore be preferable to include it as a
general principle applicable to all the phases, perhaps in Part Four.

While the idea underlying draft principle III-1 was acceptable, it would be useful to
revise the wording of the text to make the scope of the recommendation more specific, in
both substantive and subjective terms. Specifically, the term “encouraged”, the generic
reference to “armed conflict” without any further qualification and the potential impact of
the recommendation on non-State actors involved in a non-international conflict were some
points that needed to be taken into account in the revised wording.

The second paragraph of draft principle III-2 could be deleted, since the taking into
account of environmental considerations in peace operations had already been addressed in
draft principle I-4. Both draft principle III-3 and draft principle I1I-4 were acceptable
overall. However, draft principle III-3 (1) should be amended to indicate the addressees of
the obligation set out therein and, in the Spanish version, to use terminology that would be
more readily understood by those unfamiliar with the subject.

Draft principle III-5 combined two distinct elements — access to information and
sharing of information — which ought to be addressed separately. Furthermore, the
principle was defined too broadly, as a State or an international organization might have
good reason, such as security, for not granting access to or for not sharing certain
information. The scope of the draft principle should therefore be modified with that in mind.
Lastly, the draft principle was general in nature and could be applied to any of the phases; it
would be better placed in Part Four.

At the two previous sessions, she had stated that the issue of indigenous peoples
should be taken into account in the present topic, since their connection to the land and the
preservation of their traditional means of livelihood required special protection of the
environment, including in relation to armed conflict, as was recognized, in particular, in
articles 29 and 30 of the United Nations Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples.
She was therefore pleased to see the subject addressed in draft principle IV-1. It was
appropriate to include the draft principle in a separate part of the project — which, in her
opinion, should be entitled “General principles” — since the question of indigenous peoples

GE.16-12401 11



A/CN.4/SR.3321

12

covered all three phases of the topic. However, she agreed with others that the wording of
the draft principle, particularly in paragraph 1, was too general and abstract and failed to
clearly establish the connection between indigenous peoples and protection of the
environment in relation to armed conflicts. However, paragraph 2 better reflected that
connection. In any event, the draft principle could be revised by the Drafting Committee,
which could also consider adding a reference to the need for States and international
organizations to take account of the special position of indigenous peoples in all projects,
studies and plans related to the environment and armed conflict that might affect them.
Lastly, in response to the comment by Mr. Peter that the practice considered by the Special
Rapporteur was limited to certain regions and did not reflect the fact that indigenous
peoples were present in all continents, she was of the view that the material selected by the
Special Rapporteur reflected the practice available. However, it would be helpful to include
a reference to the global dimension of indigenous issues in the commentaries.

She wished to conclude by noting the outstanding contribution that Ms. Jacobsson
had made to the work of the Commission, in general, and as Special Rapporteur on
protection of the environment in relation to armed conflicts, in particular. She would be
sorely missed.

Mr. Al-Marri said that he commended the Special Rapporteur on the excellent
work she had done in producing the report, which brought particular focus to a topic of
major concern to the international community as a whole. In her report, the Special
Rapporteur had affirmed that environmental issues were a common factor that brought
States together, whether in peacetime or during armed conflict. The nine draft principles
proposed in the report, some of which were binding and others optional, had been prepared
very thoroughly; they should all be submitted to the Drafting Committee. The draft
principles focused on the three temporal phases — before, during and after armed conflict
— and dealt, inter alia, with the rights of indigenous peoples in relation to armed conflicts.
He agreed with the Special Rapporteur that there was no need to refer to the applicability of
the conventions under which States had undertaken to protect the environment during
armed conflict. He also agreed that the work could be presented in the form of discrete
topics within the overall subject of protection of the environment in relation to armed
conflicts. The involvement of parties to the conflict should be examined in the light of the
law of armed conflict and the law of occupation. The Commission should also examine the
means available for dispute settlement and for establishing liability for environmental
damage; reference could be made in that context to relevant previous work of the
Commission. The Commission should also consider protection of the environment in
situations of armed conflict between non-State actors, with particular reference to the
situations in Afghanistan, Iraq and Syria.

Mr. Vazquez-Bermudez said that he wished to commend the Special Rapporteur
on her well-researched third report, which examined practice, case law, writings and
treaties, as well as material from a wide variety of primary sources, including the official
websites of States and international organizations. The report also included a most useful
bibliography.

He was in favour of giving the topic the broadest possible scope, covering all three
phases of armed conflicts, and of basing it on consideration of the international legal system
as a whole, rather than on any particular branch of international law, since international
humanitarian law, the lex specialis in situations of armed conflict, might well overlap with
rules drawn from international environmental law, international humanitarian law,
international human rights standards and international criminal law. In order to protect the
environment in relation to armed conflicts, it was therefore vital to identify which standards
and principles of international law applied to the various phases of those conflicts.

GE.16-12401



A/CN.4/SR.3321

He agreed with the substance of the nine draft principles proposed by the Special
Rapporteur in her third report. Section II of the latter showed that the Commission’s draft
articles on the effects of armed conflicts on treaties were of relevance to the topic under
consideration, especially draft article 3 establishing the general principle that the existence
of an armed conflict did not ipso facto terminate or suspend the operation of treaties.
Furthermore, it made it clear that the annex to the draft articles, which contained an
indicative list of categories of treaties which would remain in operation in whole or in part
during an armed conflict, expressly included treaties relating to the protection of the
environment. The references to the commentaries to those draft articles were also helpful.

He concurred with Mr. McRae that, in order to reflect the standard-setting nature of
the draft principles, States should not be “encouraged to” engage in a specified form of
conduct, but should be told that they must or should do something, the word “should” being
more appropriate when the provision in question largely constituted progressive
development.

He was pleased that the Special Rapporteur had devoted draft principle IV-1 to the
rights of indigenous peoples in the context of the protection of the environment in relation
to armed conflicts, as that signified recognition that various branches of international law
could have areas in common. While protection of the environment was obviously important
everywhere, it had to be acknowledged that, as Mr. Saboia had explained, in some parts of
the world, indigenous peoples had a special relationship with the environment. The
destruction of their land would have grave consequences for the cultural and physical
survival of those peoples and that their land therefore deserved special protection before,
during and after an armed conflict. In that connection, he drew attention to the contents of
articles 29 and 30 of the United Nations Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples
and to articles XIX and XXX of the American Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous
Peoples, which had been adopted on 15 June 2016 after many years of negotiation. The
wording of draft principle IV-1 should be brought more into line with the context of the
topic and could echo that of the American Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples.

As far as draft principle I-1 was concerned, the Special Rapporteur had referred to
practice and case law in order to underscore how important it was that States adopted
national legislation to enhance the protection of the environment in relation to armed
conflicts, in conformity with international law. However, like Mr. McRae, he considered
that draft principle I-1 should not necessarily be confined to preventive measures, since it
was also relevant to the post-conflict phase. Although draft principle I-2 on status-of-forces
and status-of-mission agreements was only indirectly related to armed conflicts, there was
indeed a growing tendency to incorporate into such agreements provisions on
environmental responsibilities that might help to forestall damage to, or promote the
restoration of, the environment. Draft principle I-4 on peace operations also reflected the
more frequent practice of States and international organizations, such as the United Nations,
to take steps to prevent, mitigate and remedy harm to the environment.

Some redrafting of the draft principles in Part Three was required. In draft principles
I11-3 and III-4, it would be wise to clarify in what way remnants of war on land and at sea
could harm the environment and to provide for cooperation between States and between
States and international organizations.

He was in favour of referring the nine draft principles to the Drafting Committee for
fine-tuning in accordance with the comments and suggestions made during the debates in
plenary meetings.

In its future programme of work the Commission should take account of
developments in international law stemming from State practice, opinio juris, case law and
treaties. It should likewise give more in-depth consideration to the protection of the

GE.16-12401 13



A/CN.4/SR.3321

14

environment during occupation, to the responsibility of State and non-State actors, to non-
international armed conflicts and to compensation and reparation. The future Special
Rapporteur must continue to consult international organizations such as the United Nations
Environment Programme (UNEP), the United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural
Organization (UNESCO) and the International Committee of the Red Cross.

Lastly, he paid tribute to the current Special Rapporteur, whose guidance and
leadership had enabled the Commission to forge ahead and to make a substantive and very
useful contribution to the progressive development and codification of international law in
such an important area.

Mr. Kamto said that the substantial amount of research done by the current Special
Rapporteur would undoubtedly prove most useful for the next Special Rapporteur on the
topic. Like Mr. Forteau, Mr. Park and Mr. Sturma, he was, however, puzzled by the
apparent extension of the scope of the topic to encompass the protection of the rights of
indigenous peoples, investment agreements, the protection of the cultural heritage and the
type of weapons used in armed conflicts. The division of the subject matter into three
phases of equal importance might be partly responsible for that situation, because no strict
temporal limits had been set for the first and last stages. The first phase should be restricted
to events which were immediately and closely bound up with the beginning of the armed
conflict, otherwise too much attention would be paid to the prevention of environmental
damage, which was a quite different matter possibly warranting separate consideration.
Similarly, the third phase should be confined to the direct impact of armed conflicts on the
environment. The issue of marine wrecks had already been covered in other legal
instruments.

Secondly, the shift from the protection of the environment towards the protection of
human rights considerably altered the scope and nature of the rules and principles being
formulated. No one was opposed to the protection of indigenous peoples but, for the
purposes of the topic under consideration, in draft principle IV-1 the Commission should
focus not on their rights but on special protection for their environment.

He endorsed the views of earlier speakers who had held that several of the draft
principles were unsupported by the reasoning in the report and that much of the case law
cited therein had no bearing on the subject matter. Draft principle I-1 was not borne out by
the analyses in the report and was worded too broadly. He wondered why draft principle I-2
was missing. By not setting out the basis for draft principle I-3 the Special Rapporteur gave
the impression that it constituted more a personal wish than a principle deriving from
practice or existing international instruments. The same was true of draft principles -4 and
III-1. The latter drew no distinction between international and non-international armed
conflicts. In practice, the reference to the “restoration and protection of the environment
damaged by the armed conflict” might amount to no more than pious wishes, since it was
hard to see what national armed groups who had participated in the conflict could do to
implement that provision. Draft principle III-3 was very loosely worded. The first
paragraph did not specify who was to carry out the activities in question and it was
unrealistic to demand the clearance, removal and destruction of all mines without delay.
The second paragraph referred to “the parties”, presumably the parties to the armed conflict,
in other words the States parties to an armed conflict, which meant that it excluded non-
international armed conflicts, despite the fact that they formed the majority of current
armed conflicts.

He was in favour of referring the draft principles, apart from draft principles I-1, I-3,
I-4, III-1 and III-3, to the Drafting Committee.

GE.16-12401



A/CN.4/SR.3321

For 10 years, he had admired the Special Rapporteur’s elegance of mind and her
tenacity in seeking progress in topics related to women’s rights and the rights of certain
categories of vulnerable persons. He wished her every success in the future.

Mr. Candioti said that he wished to thank the Special Rapporteur for her third
report, which contained a detailed account of many aspects of the protection of the
environment in relation to armed conflicts, along with a wealth of information on State
practice, treaty law, international and municipal case law and opinio juris, as well as a very
useful bibliography. She had adopted a highly professional approach to what was an
extremely difficult subject. She had made a very valuable contribution to the Commission’s
consideration of the topic and had provided ample material for further urgently needed
work by the international community on it. Her three-phase approach had been a wise
choice. All the rules and recommendations contained in the draft principles proposed in her
third report would promote the development of the topic. He was sure that the Drafting
Committee would pay due heed to the various suggestions which had been made with a
view to improving their wording.

The use of the term “principle” did not diminish the relevance of the Special
Rapporteur’s proposals. The Commission should, however, ensure that the final form of the
provisions was consistent with their content. It should not confuse principles, in other
words general basic rules or standards for the codification or progressive development of
international law, with recommendations concerning advisable or desirable conduct.

The Commission had received a mandate from the General Assembly to codify and
progressively develop the law on the protection of the environment in relation to armed
conflicts. It should therefore press on with the good work already done in order to fulfil that
mandate.

Lastly, he paid tribute to the Special Rapporteur’s commitment to the rule of law in
the international community. He also wished her every success in the future.

The meeting rose at 12.50 p.m.

GE.16-12401 15



